ALASKA STATE LEG SLATURE
HOUSE SPECI AL COW TTEE ON FI SHERI ES
Anchor age, Al aska
Cct ober 19, 2011
2:42 p.m

VEMBERS PRESENT

Representative Steve Thonpson, Chair
Representative Al an Austerman
Representati ve Bob Herron
Representative Scott Kawasaki
Representative Bob Ml ler

MVEMBERS ABSENT

Representative Craig Johnson, Vice Chair
Representative Lance Pruitt

OTHER LEQ SLATORS PRESENT

Represent ati ve Paul Seaton
Representative Al an Dick
Representative David Cuttenberg

COW TTEE CALENDAR

PRESENTATI ON:  SALMON MANAGEMENT ON THE ARCTI G YUKON- KUSKOKW M
REG ON

- HEARD
PREVI QUS COW TTEE ACTI ON
No previous action to record
W TNESS REQ STER
CORA CAWPBELL, Comm ssi oner
Al aska Departnent of Fish & Gane ( ADF&G
Juneau, Al aska
PCOSI TI ON  STATEMENT: Gave opening remarks on behalf of ADF&G
during the presentation on salnon managenent on the Arctic-
Yukon- Kuskokwi m Regi on.

JEFF REGNART, Director

HOUSE FSH COW TTEE -1- Cct ober 19, 2011



Di vision of Commercial Fisheries

Al aska Departnent of Fish & Gane ( ADF&G

Anchor age, Al aska

POSI TI ON  STATEMENT: Presented information and answered
guestions during the presentation on salnon nanagenent on the
Arcti c- Yukon- Kuskokwi m Regi on.

JOHN LI NDERMAN, Central Region Supervisor

Di vi sion of Commercial Fisheries

Al aska Departnent of Fish & Gane ( ADF&G

Anchor age, Al aska

PCSI TI ON  STATEMENT: Present ed i nformation during t he
presentation on sal non managenent on the Arctic-Yukon-Kuskokw m
Regi on.

TI MOTHY ANDREW Director of Natural Resources

Associ ation of Village Council Presidents (AVCP)

Bet hel , Al aska

POSI TI ON  STATEMENT: Testified during the hearing on salnon
managenent on the Arctic- Yukon- Kuskokwi m Regi on.

ROSE FOSDI CK, Vi ce President

Nat ural Resources Division

Kawer ak, Inc.

Nonme, Al aska

PCSI TI ON  STATEMENT: Gave a presentation entitled, "Resource
Managenent Concerns and Al |l ocati ons of Managenent Resources.”

JILL KLEIN, Executive Director

Yukon Ri ver Drainage Fisheries Association (YRDFA)

Anchor age, Al aska

PCSI TI ON  STATEMENT: Gave a presentation on community
i nvol venent in nmanagenent deci sions and nonitoring.

KAREN G LLI'S, Executive Director

Bering Sea Fishernmen's Associ ati on ( BSFA)

Anchor age, Al aska

PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Gave a presentation entitled, "Cooperative
Research & Monitoring: Fisheries Managenent Begins at the Local
Level ."

ORVI LLE HUNTI NGTON, Director

Wldlife Parks

Tanana Chi efs Conference

Huslia, Al aska

PCOSI TI ON STATEMENT: Testified regarding salnon managenent on
t he Arctic- Yukon- Kuskokwi m Regi on.

HOUSE FSH COW TTEE - 2- Cct ober 19, 2011



LOU S GREEN

Nonme, Al aska

PCOSI TI ON  STATEMENT: Testified regarding salnmon managenent on
t he Arctic- Yukon- Kuskokwi m Regi on.

VERNER W LSON

DI Iingham Al aska

PCOSI TI ON  STATEMENT: Testified regarding salmon managenent on
the Arctic- Yukon- Kuskokwi m Regi on.

STAN ZURAY

Tanana Vil l age, Al aska

PCOSI TI ON  STATEMENT: Testified regarding salnon managenent on
t he Arctic- Yukon- Kuskokwi m Regi on.

FRED W ALEXI E, SR

Kal t ag, Al aska

POSI TI ON  STATEMENT: Testified regarding salnon managenent on
the Arctic- Yukon- Kuskokwi m Regi on.

TIM SM TH, Presi dent

None Fi shernen's Associ ation

None, Al aska

POSI TI ON  STATEMENT: Testified regarding salnon managenent on
t he Arctic- Yukon- Kuskokwi m Regi on.

BRYAN MARACLE, Director

Nat ur al Resources

Counci| of Athabascan Tri bal Governnents

Fort Yukon, Al aska

PCOSI TI ON  STATEMENT: Testified regarding salnon managenent on
t he Arctic- Yukon- Kuskokwi m Regi on.

ROY ASHENFELTER

Nonme, Al aska

PCOSI TI ON  STATEMENT: Testified regarding salnon managenent on
the Arctic- Yukon- Kuskokwi m Regi on.

ACTI ON NARRATI VE

2:42:13 PM

CHAIR STEVE THOWSON called the House Special Conmmttee on
Fisheries neeting to order at 2:42 p.m Represent ati ves

Thonpson, Herron, Kawasaki (via teleconference), and MIler (via
t el econf erence) wer e pr esent at t he cal | to order.

HOUSE FSH COW TTEE - 3- Cct ober 19, 2011



Representative Austerman arrived as the neeting was in progress.
Representatives Joule, Dick, Seaton, and Guttenberg, and Senator
Hof f man were al so present.

2:42: 29 PM

Presentation: Salnon Mnagenent on the Arctic-Yukon-Kuskokw m
Regi on
Presentation: Salnon Mnagenent on the Arctic-Yukon-Kuskokw m
Regi on

2:42:38 PM

REPRESENTATI VE HERRON stated that the Arctic-Yukon-Kuskokw m
(AYK) Region enconpasses 40 percent of Alaska geographically,
but sone of his constituents wonder if the region is getting its
share of attention in ternms of subsistence and comercial
fishing managenent practices by the state. He expressed his
hope that this hearing would |ead toward inprovenents in those
ar eas.

REPRESENTATI VE HERRON |isted the followng factors affecting

AYK s wi |l d sal non: the conditions of the North Pacific Ccean
high profile, high seas illegal fishing; <climte change;
regul ated intercept fisheries, both on the high seas and rivers;
the conpetition between subsistence, comercial, and personal

use consunption fishing; and the new threat of a flu-like virus
on sal non.

2:45: 50 PM

CORA CAMPBELL, Conmi ssioner, Al aska Departnent of Fish & Gane
( ADF&G) , stated that the departnent pul l ed together a
consi derabl e amobunt of information in response to the questions
by the committee's staff, and she expressed appreciation for the
ongoing interest that the legislature has had on this topic.
She spoke of the dependency of people in the AYK Region on fish
species for survival, both in terns of subsistence and
commer ci al fishing, and she said necessary restrictions,
particularly on subsistence, have led to hardship in the region.
She said the investnment nade by the state and |egislature has
al l owed the departnent to procure the necessary tools to inprove
its assessnents, to provide additional certainty about salnon
runs in the region, and to provide nore adaptive assessnent and
managenent in an attenpt to provide as nuch opportunity during
times of "low abundance.” She said this does not elimnate the
hardship endured by those in the region when subsistence

HOUSE FSH COW TTEE -4- Cct ober 19, 2011



closures are necessary, and she said the departnment still has
additional work to do.

2:48:44 PM

REPRESENTATI VE HERRON asked for comment regarding the "enotional
threat” of [the recent infectious salnmon anema (ISA) virus of
salmon in British Col unbi a] .

COWM SSI ONER CAMPBELL said the departnent’'s pathol ogi st has been
studying that virus since its discovery. She deferred to Jeff
Regnart for further response.

2:49: 40 PM

JEFF REGNART, Director, Division of Comrercial Fisheries, Alaska
Departnent of Fish & Gane (ADF&5), stated that it is known that
salnon can carry |ISA, but it is yet unknown whether the virus
can be detrinental to the fish; nore work needs to be done with
the sanples to make that determ nation

REPRESENTATI VE DI CK suggested that it would be good for those in
the AYK Region to receive the information he recently received
from Craig Fleener in Bethel. He said he thinks that would
inprove the relationship between those people and the
departnment, and allow the people to apply that information and
to ask pertinent questions.

REPRESENTATI VE SEATON said the House Special Comrittee on
Fisheries worked to get reports done to show the reasons why
"over-escapenent” was taking place, and to address fish runs
where there was a deficit and noney was lost to the |1ocal
econony due to foregone harvest. He asked if the departnent has
continued its work on the reports of nonitored streans, and if
the results of that work are being reported back to the
| egi sl ature.

MR. REGNART said the departnment has continued the process of
determning whether it net its escapenent goals and whether
addi ti onal neasures could be used to affect those areas where
t here was foregone harvest.

CHAI R THOWPSON asked if the departnment has a tinme frame in mnd
when the report wll be conpl eted.

HOUSE FSH COW TTEE - 5- Cct ober 19, 2011



MR. REGNART said this process has been done by the departnent
for some time now, and he recollected that the reports are
usual | y avail abl e by m d-January.

2:54: 33 PM

REPRESENTATI VE HERRON requested information regarding the age of
returning Chinook salnmon in the AYK Region. He expl ai ned that
there is concern that there are no nore eight- or seven-year-old
Chi nook sal non, but there is information that there are six- and
five-year-old Chinook sal non.

2:55: 57 PM

JOHN LI NDERMAN, Centr al Regi on  Supervi sor, Division of
Commerci al Fisheries, Al aska Departnment of Fish & Gane (ADF&G,
stated that the AYK Region extends from the Al aska Range to the
North Slope and from the Canadian border to the Bering Sea
coast, at least north of the Bristol Bay area. He said it is

broken up into the followi ng fisheries nmanagenent areas: t he
Arctic area, conprised of Kotzebue Sound, the Port C arence
area, and the Norton Sound area, inclusive of St. Lawence

| sl and; the Yukon northern area, conprised of the U S. portion
of the Yukon River drainage, and the North Sl ope from Point Hope
to the Canadi an border along the Beaufort and Chukchi Seas; and
the Kuskokwi m area, conprised of the Kuskokwi m River drainage
and Kuskokwi m Bay areas, including both southern and northern
Kuskokw m Bay and Nuni vak | sl and.

MR. LI NDERVAN said the AYK Region is one of the nost renote in
the state, conprised primarily of small, renote comunities,
with the exception of Fairbanks, Bethel, Nonme, and Barrow. He
said there is a large Alaska Native population throughout the
region, particularly in the small rural communities. Most of
the communities are detached from the road system and are
accessible only by air or water. M. Linderman said subsistence
is preval ent throughout the region.

MR. LI NDERVMAN said the AYK Region's subsistence fishery harvests
all species of salnon - Chinook probably being the nost desired,
as well as herring, shellfish, crab, halibut, whitefish, burbot,
and char. He said comercial fisheries within the AYK region
are small conpared to other comrercial fisheries in the state.
The majority of those comercial fisheries are focused on
harvesting salnon, but there are also king crab, herring, and
hal i but, and non-sal non, freshwater fisheries. The latter are
primarily specific to the Yukon River drainage for whitefish and

HOUSE FSH COW TTEE - 6- Cct ober 19, 2011



| anprey. He said the majority of the commercial activity occurs
in renote areas of the region, and the majority of participation
in those fisheries is at the local level thus the fisheries are
small in scale, but great in economc inpact. He explained that
there is limted economc activity in these renote areas of the
st at e. He said there is a strong connection between conmercia
and subsistence fisheries in the AYK Regi on because much of the
income gained through commercial fishing activity is put back
i nto subsistence fishing and hunti ng.

2:59: 57 PM

MR. LI NDERVAN stated that sport fisheries within the AYK Regi on
are also small in scale conpared to the rest of the state, and
they are focused primarily on salnon and resident species,
including trout, Arctic grayling, sheefish, and pike. He
relayed that sport fishing occurs in urban, non-subsistence
areas, such as Fairbanks, but that there are "guiding operations
as well as private sport activity" throughout the AYK Region.
Harvest from sport fishing is fairly low conpared to the
subsi stence and commercial fisheries that occur throughout the
region.

MR. LI NDERVAN next gave an overview of the 2011 AYK Region
salmon fishery, broken down by the previously described

managemnment areas. In the Norton Sound area, he reported,
Unakal eet Chi nook abundance was poor , whi ch required
restrictions and a late season closure in order to achieve
adequat e escapenents within the drainage. However, opportunity
was provided for subsistence fishing of other species, such as
chum and Coho sal non. He said the None sub-district chum run
has inproved fromits historical |ows; since 2005, that run has
been operated under a Tier | fishery. Overall, he related,

Norton Sound comrercial salnon fisheries realized sone of the
hi ghest commercial harvest and participation that ADF&G has seen
in decades, and fishernmen benefited froma record high ex-vessel
value in that fishery in 2011. He said the sumer red king crab
fishery in Norton Sound achieved its quota earlier than expected
this year, and fishermen benefited froma record ex-vessel value
in that fishery in 2011

MR. LINDERMAN said the Kuskokwim area experienced a second
consecutive year of poor Chinook salnon abundance, which
resulted in periodic closures to the Lower Yukon-Kuskokw m
subsi stence fishery and reduced comercial opportunity in
Kuskokwi m Bay areas within the nonth of June. Area chum runs
wer e above average, sockeye runs were highly variable depending

HOUSE FSH COW TTEE -7- Cct ober 19, 2011



on the systemin the area - average to bel ow average - and Coho
runs were average. He said this allowed for adequate
subsi stence opportunity and harvest of these species. He stated
that although commercial activity was reduced or delayed in
response to Chinook conservation neasures, overall commerci al
harvest in the Kuskokwi m area was average and participation and
val ue was above average in 2011

MR. LI NDERVAN sai d the Yukon River Chinook run was poor in 2011
resulting in reductions to subsistence fishing tinme throughout

the drainage, reduced sport fishing bag limts, no directed
comercial Chinook salnmon fishery, and barring of the sale of
Chi nook sal non  caught i nci dent al to other fisheries -
specifically sumrer chum sal non. He said managenent actions
taken this vyear resulted in achieving the Canadian border
objectives for Chinook salnmon, while still maximzing the U S
harvest opportunity on surplus fish in excess of Canadian
obj ectives, and overall drainage-w de escapenent needs. He

specified that the border objectives are established by the
Yukon River panel wth a range of 42,000 to 55,000, wth
provision for a border passing agreenent, which is approximtely
5,000 fish. The estinmated border passage this year was 49, 780.
M. Linderman said the sunmer chum run was well above average in
2011, although ongoi ng conservation neasures directed at Chinook
salmon did limt comercial harvest opportunity on available
sur pl uses of sumrer chum Fall chum abundance was al so above
average, which provided for wunrestricted subsistence fishing,
and Canadi an border objectives were also achieved. Furthernore,
an above average comrercial harvest was achi eved, he noted.

3:05: 22 PM

REPRESENTATI VE SEATON, regarding a situation in which there is a
surplus of <chum and a Chinook restriction, asked if the
departnment has been talking with |ocal populations to come up
with any other strategies for harvest, other than gillnetting,
so that the foregone harvest could be taken w thout jeopardizing
Chi nook sal non.

MR. LI NDERVAN answered yes. He said the departnment has been
considering gear strategies, and "tine and area" strategies. He
said there is the ability, especially through |ower Yukon River
test fisheries, to determ ne when high abundance of chum may be
present in certain districts in concurrence with a | ow abundance
of Chi nook sal non. He said the departnent has even split
districts into sub-districts to take advantage of the nunbers of
chum and Chinook and mnimze the inpact of incidental harvest

HOUSE FSH COW TTEE - 8- Cct ober 19, 2011



on those species. He said there is also experinental work being
done to determ ne whether fish wheels would be feasible in those

districts. Traditionally, he explained, fish wheels have not
been feasible in that area, because specific conditions are
needed to make them effective. If fish wheels are viable, they
offer two potential benefits: they wusually don't catch many
Chi nook, but do catch nore chum because they are close to
shore; and fish wheels nmake it possible to "live release”
Chi nook salnon that my be caught in them He said the

departnment is open to ideas.

MR. LINDERMAN, in response to a followup question, said there

would be no restrictions to using fish wheels. He said this
year the departnment has the ability to have tinme and area
openi ngs and cl osures. He indicated that the departnment has

strategies that it could put in play, but my need statutory
change.

3:09:47 PM

REPRESENTATI VE GUTTENBERG asked if the departnent foresees any
ot her conservation neasures other than just managi ng the sal non
com ng up the river.

MR. LI NDERMAN said that is a difficult question to answer. He
said the ability exists to change district boundaries and allow

for nore flexibility in managenent. Much of that can be done
i ndependent of regulation, given the authority of the departnent
with respect to tine and area. He cautioned that "going down

those roads" mght confuse wusers, but suggested that having
users get used to regulations in the process of adopting them
m ght be useful. He said there are several approaches and
strategi es that can be taken, but they revolve around the gear
and time and area, as "broad topics of the tools that are
avai |l abl e to managenent."

3:11: 50 PM

REPRESENTATIVE DICK said he lives on headwaters and is always
t hi nki ng about spawni ng grounds. He said the sheefish follow
fry down river and consunme them and he suggested the departnent
do a study about predatory fish. He said he thinks attention
should be given to ways to get the salnmon "down to the nouth”
and into the ocean.

3:13:17 PM

HOUSE FSH COW TTEE -9- Cct ober 19, 2011



MR. REGNART directed attention to a handout [included in the
commttee packet], which shows a summary of the FY 01 - FY 12
budget s. For the Division of Comrercial Fisheries, the nunbers
for the general fund and special projects ran from $44.7 mllion
to $67.4 million. The general fund and special projects anmounts
for the AYK Region ran between $9.5 mllion and $6.7 mllion
during the sane tinme period. The AYK Region sport fish totals
ran between $24.9 and $49.1 nmillion, but at this point are a
little less than that, he said.

MR. REGNART said the departnent has portions of operating
revenue and capital that go toward stocks that have been of
concern since FY 07. He said the amount spent in the overall
region to study those stocks of concern has increased from $2.2
mllion to $4.2 mllion since FY 07. He gave a breakdown of the
increase in dollars spent by area: Norton Sound, $260,000 to
$500, 000; the Yukon, just over $800,000 to approximtely $2.2
mllion;, Kuskokwi m $540,000 to $640, 000.

3:15: 30 PM

MR. REGNART said when the current assessnent prograns were
| ooked at for the overall area, managers in the area felt it
woul d be beneficial to have additional sonar prograns at the
tributary |evel. He said recording tributary salnon passage
would do the followi ng: provide total passage of the system and
escapenment estinmates; allow for the assessnent and/or the
establi shnment of escapenent goals; provide in-season and post-
season ability to nmanage the termnal fisheries if they do exi st
in those tributaries; and feed into the general understanding of
stock status. The cost for a small system would be $150, 000 for
start-up and $150,000 annually. The cost for a system wth
sonar in a large river environnent, he said, wuld cost
approxi mately $400, 000 for start-up and $400, 000 annual ly.

MR. REGNART said that between FY 00 and FY 11, the Al aska
Sust ai nabl e Sal non Fund (AKSSF) has funded about 68 i ndividual
state, federal, and nongovernnental organization (NGO projects
at a total of just over $7 mllion. Many of those projects were

in collaboration with ADF&G and i ncluded: research, |large
riverine, radio telenetry, run reconstruction, mark and
recapture, marine, and juvenile study prograns. He noted that

the AKSSF funding source is the sane as the Pacific Coastal
Sal non Recovery Fund (PCSRF) - the nanme changed over the years.

MR. REGNART said enhancenent work is being done in the Norton
Sound ar ea. The departnment has a statewide private nonprofit

HOUSE FSH COW TTEE - 10- Cct ober 19, 2011



(PNP) office that assists the Regional Planning Team (RPT) with
its long-range enhancenent program effort. He said the
departnment also has the ability to review and nonitor different
enhancenent prograns through the permtting process and is also
wor king on how to get access to chuns when Chinook are low in
abundance, such as the opportunities given to users for fall
chuns in the Yukon River. He said the departnent is working
with locals and NGO>s to gain access to |ocal resources. He
invited M. Linderman to talk about stocks of concern and
actions.

CHAIR THOWSON said he thinks everyone present wants to know
when there will be positive results.

MR. REGNART agreed there have been nmillions of dollars spent
over the last ten to twelve years, and the departnment has

learned a |lot. It now understands nore stock-specific
information, can build total runs, and can come up with nore
accurate tables. He opined the departnent is in a better

position to nore accurately denonstrate to the public, the Board
of Fisheries (BOF), and the legislature, what the goals should
be in the systems. He said it is a matter of getting the right
nunber of spawners and letting Mther Nature take her course
At this point, because of what the departnent has |earned
through its projects, it is staged to take full advantage of
production, and although Chi nook production has been poor, there
has been an indication that that is turning around, as the
depart ment hopes.

3:20:48 PM

REPRESENTATI VE HERRON questioned why areas of stock concern
still exist and what tool the departnent is mssing or has not
utilized.

MR. REGNART said he cannot point out a tool that the departnent

does not have; in fact, the departnent has a greater
understanding of productivity, but that does not change
envi ronnent . He said there have been changes, sone stock-
specific and sone species-specific, however, the departnment
does not have the answer regarding Yukon River Chinook as many
of the changes are being driven by the marine environnent. | t

is very difficult to garner information in a marine environnent.
MR. LINDERMAN, in response to Representative Herron, agreed

there has been a decline since the md-'80s of 8-year-olds in
t he Yukon. However, 7-year-olds are still seen, and the

HOUSE FSH COW TTEE -11- Oct ober 19, 2011



predom nate age class in the Chinook population in the Yukon
[ River] has always been 5- to 6-year-olds. He further noted
that 4-year-olds are less frequently seen. There has been a
recent decline in the nunber of 7-year-olds, but there has been
a "stabilizing to sone extent" of the current trends in age
class within a short tinme frame of 5-plus years. M. Linderman
opined it is too early to determ ne whether that is a trend that
is going to remain or change.

3:24:36 PM

REPRESENTATI VE AUSTERVMAN asked if the departnent needs, and is
anticipating, noney comng in from sustainable sal non funds that
can be used toward further study on the Yukon. He queried as to
whet her the stocks of concern of '07, and the departnent's
stocks of concern of today, are the sane.

MR. REGNARD answered that the concern is partly the sane. He
said ADF&G is going to "touch on stocks of concern,"™ including
"what was started in 2000 when the designation actually cane
into existence,” what has changed, and where the departnent
currently is. Regarding the dollars spent on studies, he said
the departnment is constantly |ooking for ways to inprove its
data. He related that when there is a stock of concern there is
a higher level of expectation that the departnment can "learn
sonmet hing that we haven't known before."

REPRESENTATI VE AUSTERVAN asked what proposals currently are
coming forth fromthe departnment regarding "the mari ne aspect."

3:26:52 PM

MR. LI NDERVAN said a study through the National Marine Fisheries
Service (NMFS) in Juneau, which focuses exclusively on Yukon
Ri ver Canadi an orange and Chinook salnon, is an exanple of the
recent increase in ADF& s collaboration with NWVFS and the
Nat i onal Cceanic and Atnospheric Administration (NOAA). He said
this project involves genetics evaluation - Chinook salnon of
Canadian origin are genetically distinct - and stated, "These
are essentially fish just after they've entered into saltwater
in their first year." He said the departnent sees this project
as one through which to gain insight into that specific stock
and, by extension, into the Yukon River stock in general. I n
response to a followup question, he confirmed that the
departnment does work with multiple agencies with respect to
geneti cs.

HOUSE FSH COW TTEE -12- Cct ober 19, 2011



MR. LI NDERMAN responded to further questions from Representative
Aust er man. He specified that while the Yukon River Canadian
Chi nook salnon are genetically distinct, others species are not.
He stated that achieving escapenent of those Yukon River
Canadi an Chi nook salnon is critical to the sustainability of the
overall stock; approximately half of the entire Yukon River
Chinook run is produced by fish that spawn and rear wthin
Canadi an waters. He said 47,000 is the nunber of fish that
historically have nade it across the border; it is not the
escapenent nunber.

3:31: 07 PM

CHAIR THOMPSON asked if the changes in abundance and age cl ass
are irreversi bl e.

MR. LI NDERMAN answered that this is an issue that ADF& G has
studied, specifically as it relates to the Yukon River, and it
plans to continue investigation on the Kuskokwim River, as well
He tal ked about the involvenent of the BOF in multiple studies
conducted over a decade to determ ne the causes and history of
the age class. He said the result of the board |ooking at that
issue was a nmesh size restriction in 2011. Prior to that
restriction, both subsistence and commercial fisheries were
unrestricted when targeting Chinook salnmon using gillnet nesh
gear. He said a 7.5-inch nmesh size allows other species,
including chum to swim through the net. He said the expected
result is to have the escapenents mmc the sane age, sex, and
size class that the return was prior to harvest occurring, and
the departnment will continue its nonitoring.

CHAI R THOWPSON asked how accurate the bycatch counts were for
of fshore commercial fishing of sal non.

3:34: 00 PM

MR. REGNART replied that the departnent feels that the bycatch
nunber in today's offshore fishery is a fairly accurate
representation of what's being caught, in large part due to sone
of the changes that have occurred there wth 100 percent
observer coverage.

3:35: 00 PM
MR LI NDERMAN |isted the four current stocks of concern within

t he AYK Regi on: Norton Sound sub-district 1 chum Norton Sound
sub-districts 2 and 3 chum Norton Sound sub-districts 5 and 6

HOUSE FSH COW TTEE - 13- Cct ober 19, 2011



Chi nook; and Yukon River Chinook. The year 2000 - just after
the sustainable salnon policy was put into regulation - was the
first year that stocks of concern were established within AYK
At that time there were a total of nine stocks of concern,
including Yukon fall chum Kuskokwi m Ri ver  Chinook, and
Kuskokwi m River chum sal non. He said there have Dbeen
i nprovenents in several of those runs, in the Kuskokwim River in
particul ar.

MR. LI NDERVAN, regarding inplications of stocks of concern to
users, stated that salnmon are primarily managed to achieve
adequate escapenents to sustain the runs indefinitely. | f
escapenents are not achieved, then harvest is typically reduced
in order to increase the nunber of fish that are making it to
t he spawni ng grounds. He said the specific inpact to users is
vari abl e, depending upon the type of stock concern designation

of which there are three: a yield concern, which is primarily
focused on not achieving the same |evel of harvest surplus; a
managenent concern, which neans the result of nmanagenent on
harvest |evels; and a conservation concern, which relates to not
achieving adequate escapenents, even if all fisheries, by
function, were cl osed.

3:37:18 PM

MR. LINDERMAN said current stocks of concern are focused on
yi el ds. He said there is a refocus on ensuring that adequate
escapenents will be achieved before allowing unlimted harvest.
The primary effect on that, he said, is on the comrercial
fisheries. He acknow edged that in recent years there have been
additional restrictions "within the Yukon Chinook fishery to the

subsi stence fishery and a conplete closure.”™ He indicated that
restrictions will be evaluated over a nunber of years, through
the AYK board cycle, to see whether that stock of concern
designation warrants change. M. Linderman said the one stock
of concern for which restrictions have been listed in regul ation
is Nome district chum sal non. He said the Tier Il fishery was

actually put in place prior to that designation because it
predated the sustainable sal non policy. He stated, "W haven't
seen a Tier Il fishery in [the] Nonme area, given increases in
abundance of those Nonme area chum salnmon since ... md 2000."
He said the nunbers have not increased to the point that would
support a commercial fishery, but it is encouraging to have seen
an increase in abundance so that the effect on subsistence users
IS not as great.

3:39:15 PM

HOUSE FSH COW TTEE -14- Oct ober 19, 2011



REPRESENTATI VE SEATON asked if all the department's stocks of
concern are those that failed to neet escapenent goals instead
of those that are exceedi ng escapenent goal s.

MR. REGNARD answered yes. He said the departnent has discussed
the concept of goals that may be exceeded routinely for a nunber
of years, and whether that would be designated as a yield
concern or a nanhagenent concern. He said trying to figure out
the effects of excess stock is nore difficult.

REPRESENTATI VE SEATON suggested that the definition needs to
change.

REPRESENTATI VE HERRON concurred with Representative Seaton that

there may need to be another |evel of concern. He expressed
fear that current managenent of the Kuskokwim will result in
going to Tier Il, which he said woul d be disastrous.

3:43: 53 PM

TI MOTHY ANDREW Director of Natural Resources, Association of
Village Council Presidents (AVCP), noted that he was speaking in
pl ace of Mron Naneng, president of AVCP, who could not be
present. M. Andrew stated that the AVCP Regi on enconpasses the
| ower Yukon River and nuch of the Kuskokwim River, and the
peopl e there are dependent upon sal non. He said the people who
reside in this region consunme about 664 pounds per capita of
wild food, 60 percent of which is fish, and approxinately 80
percent of that is sal non. He said the Chinook fishery on the
Yukon and Kuskokwim R vers nmakes wup 80 percent of the

subsi stence utilization in the state of Al aska. In the | ast
three years, the subsistence harvest of Chinook salnmon on the
Yukon River fell near or below the mninmm necessary for
subsi st ence. He remarked that wthin +the departnent's
presentation he had not heard nention of the anobunts necessary
for subsistence. In 2011, he said, it is likely that those
nunbers will fall lower still.

3:46: 00 PM

MR. ANDREW stated that the commercial ex-vessel value fell from
$9, 957,002 in 1992 to $20,970 in 2009, and he said in 2011 that
nunber likely will have dropped further. The conmmercial fishing
permts on the |ower Yukon R ver have dropped from 798 down to
379 during the period between the 1970s and 2011. M. Andrew
said the commercialization of Chinook salnon has dropped from

HOUSE FSH COW TTEE - 15- Cct ober 19, 2011



158,018 in 1981 to only 316 in 2009, and it is expected to drop
further in 2011. The subsistence utilization of Chinook sal non
dropped from 63,915 in 1993 to 32,977 in 2009, and would likely
be the sane or less [in 2011].

MR. ANDREW sai d Yukon Ri ver Chinook sal non have been listed as a
stock of concern because of chronic lower returns. He said that
although its assertions are anecdotal at this tinme, AVCP
believes that the quality of escapenent is a current issue for
both rivers. During both the Kuskokw m | nteragency neeting held
in Anchorage in spring of this year, and the Kuskokwi m River
Sal nron Managenent Wbrking G oup nmeeting in sumer of this year,
AVCP recommended the wutilization of six-inch gear to allow
subsi stence opportunity to harvest and target jack salnon and
improve the quality of escapenment on the Kuskokwi m River. He
said ADF&G responded that all kings are necessary to neet the
escapenent goals. He said, "It appears to us that quality of
escapenment is not a concern, but managers' ability to neet the
escapenent goals is the ultimate goal." He said salnmon girth
and weight are inportant in inproving escapenment quality.

3:48:48 PM
MR. ANDREW stated that it is AVCP's opinion that if the pilot

station sonar is going to be used as a nmmjor nmanagenent tool
then there needs to be a protocol to increase data accuracy

during high-debris, high-silt, and high-water vyears. He
expl ai ned that It Is in these years that subsi stence
restrictions to include absolute subsistence closures are
endur ed. He said ADF&G has years of run reconstruction data
from testing variances and questionable operational years, and
AVCP believes that that data can aid in devel oping protocol. He

said despite the conservation neasures instituted by ADF&G and
the Ofice of Subsistence Managenent, since the crash of sal non
resources in 1998, there have not been any appreciable
i nprovenents in the run

3:50: 03 PM

MR. ANDREW said another issue, which is controversial on the
Yukon River, is quantifying the harvest. He said the sal non
harvested in the customary trade fisheries nust be a priority.
The reallocation of a legitinate comercial fishery to an
unquantifiable customary trade fishery is dangerous for resource
managenent . He said during his testinony to the federal
subsi stence board, U S. Fish and WIldlife Special Agent Stan
Pruszenski, chief |aw enforcenent agent for Al aska, indicated

HOUSE FSH COW TTEE - 16- Cct ober 19, 2011



that 80 percent of the customary trade harvest of salnon
occurred in state waters. No one on the state side of the
fi shery managenent arena is concerned about this, he said. \V/ g
Andrew offered to answer questi ons.

MR. ANDREW in response to Representative Dick, said in 2009 and
2011 there were high waters on the Yukon River, wth high
anounts of silt and debris. During those years, the nost
restrictive subsistence regulations were in place. He said data
from sonar shows a conservative count, not the total nunber of
sal non that went upriver to spawmn. He clarified that it was the
department that said it was counting conservatively. He
explained that AVCP would like the departnment to do some run
reconstruction to mnimze the inpacts of restrictions on
subsi stence and commercial users of Chinook salnon on the Yukon
Ri ver.

MR. ANDREW in response to Representative Herron, said he has
been fishing since he was 11, and there have been years of |ow
chum sal non returns, and years of |ow Chinook salnon returns.
He said his concern regarding 7.5-inch gear is that when there
is a |l ow abundance of summer chum sal non, which run concurrently
wi t h Chi nook sal non, the closure will be on both species.

3:54:48 PM

MR. ANDREW in response to Representative Seaton, relayed that
customary trade is allowed under federal statute, through the
Al aska National Interest Lands Conservation Act (AN LCA), which
allows a person to process salnmon and sell it to anybody. He
offered his understanding that it is illegal under state |aw,
but that |aw is unenforced.

CHAIR THOMPSON announced that the commttee would hear a
presentation by Rose Fosdi ck.

3:56: 55 PM

ROSE FOsSDI CK, Vice President, Natural Resources Divi sion,
Kawer ak, I nc. (" Kawer ak"), gave a presentation entitled,
"Resource Managenent Concerns and Allocations of Managenent
Resources.” She referred to a handout listing fish nunbers in
surrounding rivers, and she said Kawerak has kept track of the
following rivers in 2003 and 2011: Snake, None, El dorado,

Noatak, Pilgrim North, and Quinhagak. She said Kawerak is a
regi onal nonprofit organization serving 15 conmunities |ocated
on the Seward Peninsula, St. Lawence Island, and D onede

HOUSE FSH COW TTEE -17- Oct ober 19, 2011



| sland. She said the Norton Sound and Bering Strait Regions are
concerned and request that the legislature direct attention and
funding toward failing regional sal non stocks.

M5. FOSDI CK said Kawerak supports salnon bycatch [imts and
addi tional conservation neasures for Bering Sea trawl fishers
and the South Peninsula False Pass sockeye salnon fishery to
prevent the |oss of valuable subsistence salnon resources. She
said Kawerak requests that the legislature appropriate noney to
fund salnmon research and restoration efforts in Wstern Al aska
to the Al aska Sustainabl e Sal non Fund ( AKSSF) .

3:59: 53 PM

M5. FOSDICK said despite the fact there is nandated subsistence
priority at both the federal and state |level, commercial fishing
interests have been favored by governnent fisheries managers at
both the state and federal |evel. She said managenent of
Western Al aska salnon falls under the jurisdiction of ADF&G and
NMFS, on which the North Pacific Fisheries Managenent Counci l
(NPFMC) has a lot influence on decisions. M. Fosdick said NVFS
manages salnmon caught incidentally by offshore and traw
fisheries, and attenpts to mnimze the inpact on |arge-scale
pollock fisheries, without regard to the annual fluctuations in
sal non returns, or state nanagenent measures.

M5. FOSDI CK said | nupiaq, Yupik, and St. Lawence Yupik cultures
and traditions are based on hunting, fishing, and living off the

| and. She said the people there want to mintain their
subsi stence practices and prefer subsistence food over store-
bought f ood. She stated, "Qur subsistence needs are no |ess
important than offshore fisheries.™ She indicated that she

would be giving charts to the conmttee that show decreasing
escapenents in Bering Strait and Norton Sound, and the
i ncreasi ng bycatch of salnmon by traw fishernen. She said NPFMC
is preparing a chum salnon bycatch managenent plan for the
Bering Sea pollock fishery. She stated that Kawerak supports a
meani ngful  bycatch cap and additional neasures which nmay
actually reduce chum sal non bycatch in the region

M5. FOSDICK tal ked about ADF&G s managenent of chum sal non
fishing, noting that the departnment has tried Tier Il fishing
neasures, which have not been well-received or successful. She
sai d whenever harvest is allowed after the run begins, it is for
only two open periods per week in the marine waters. She said
Kawerak believes that the managers are out of options to
preserve None sub-district chum salnon stocks, and she opined

HOUSE FSH COW TTEE - 18- Cct ober 19, 2011



that the burden should be shared with Fal se Pass sockeye sal non
fishernmen and the federally nmanaged pol |l ock industry.

4:02: 58 PM

M5. FOSDICK |isted the follow ng nunbers of species that were
counted at the weir at Pilgrim Rver in the sumrer of 2011:
8,449 sockeye sal non, 269 Coho sal non, 44 king sal non, and 3, 364
pi nk sal non. She said it is becomng apparent that filing an
Endangered Species Act (ESA) petition is an option to consider

realizing that NOAA funds the Pacific Coastal Salnobn Recovery
Fund (PCSRF) and AKSSF obtains its funding from that fund. She

stated that Al aska does not have "listed species of salnon,” so
the focus of projects and funds has been on sal non enhancenent
and harvest nanagenent. She said Kawerak also believes that

ADF&G has at its discretion the ability to make funding
available to the AYK Region so that progranms could result in
funding research needs simlar to the needs that were identified
in the AYK Sustainable Salnon Initiative (SSI) research and
restoration plan. She said Kawerak believes that part of the
reason the state has funneled noney to the AKSSF and avoided
maki ng funds available to the AYK Region is because by doing so,
it is able to direct funds to its own preferred projects, wth
| ess rigorous scientific review She said through its actions,
ADF&G has excluded the AYK stakeholders from participating in
t he deci si on-maki ng process. The Bering Strait and Norton Sound
Regi on has experienced drastic fish decline since the 1990s, and
fish returns continue to decline.

4:05: 03 PM

M5. FOSDI CK, reading from a handout, listed stipulations in the
AKSSF call for proposals for FY 11 funding, and nanmed criteria
that nmust be net in order for projects to qualify as being of
high strategic inportance. She then described the strategic
focus for the AYK Region stock assessnent. She said the
strategic <concerns identified in the AYK Region have no
rel evance to what is going on in the Bering Strait or Bethel
Regi ons. She said Kawerak is concerned about the survival of
stocks and gave exanples to support her previous statenent that
ADF&G treats the AYK subsistence fisheries as being of |ower
i nportance than commerci al fisheries, evidenced by the
allocation of staff, resources, and research, the decision of
the BOF to renove chum sal non caps, and the decision of NWFS to
set a high Chinook cap. She said NOAA's PCSRF report shows that
there is an overwhel m ng need for research in the AYK Regi ons.

HOUSE FSH COW TTEE -19- Cct ober 19, 2011



M5. FOSDI CK concluded by listing Kawerak's reconmendations as
follows: funds be set aside by ADF&G for AYK Regi on research; a
process be used wherein the recommendations of rural Al askans
are solicited and incorporated into plans; a review be done by
the House Resources Standing Commttee  of the unique
col | aboration, research, comunication, and efforts of the
Al aska Yukon Kuskokwi m Sustainable Salnmon Initiative (AYK SSI)
Steering Committee; that the legislature send letters to the
Secretary of Commerce to request protection of chum sal non
through a | ow bycatch cap; that meani ngful salnmon bycatch limts
be established for the South Peninsula Fal se Pass sockeye sal non
fishery; and additional research and restoration funds be nmade
available to address fishery concerns in the Norton Sound
Regi on

4:09: 20 PM

M5. FOSDICK, in response to Representative Seaton, indicated
that the information on the charts to which she previously
referred canme from ADF&G and she confirned that no goals are
established for the Pilgrimand North Rivers. She said a point
of frustration has been that when there are no escapenent goals,
the perception that follows is that there is no problem to
addr ess.

M5. FOSDICK, in response to Representative Austernman, said
Kawer ak appreciates the fact that funds have been spent on the
AYK Region, but she said a closer look wll show that nost of
that noney is being spent on ADF&G projects. In further
response to Representative Austerman, she clarified that a
possi bl e ESA woul d i nvol ve chum sal non.

4:12:15 PM

The commttee took an at-ease from4:12 p.m to 4:25 p. m

4:25:58 PM

CHAI R THOVWPSON announced that the commttee would hear next from
Jill Klein of the Yukon River Drainage Fisheries Association,
regarding comunity involvenent in managenent decisions and
nmoni t ori ng.

4:26: 26 PM

JILL KLEIN, Executive Director, Yukon River Drainage Fisheries
Association (YRDFA), stated that YRDFA is an association of

HOUSE FSH COW TTEE - 20- Cct ober 19, 2011



subsi stence and commrercial fishernen with a mission of pronoting
and protecting all healthy fisheries and cultures within the
Yukon River drainage. She said the association was fornmed in
1991 in response to disastrously |ow sal non runs. In addition
to its mssion, YRDFA's goal is to foster and inprove
communi cation anmong fishernen and between fishernen and
managers. She said the board is conprised of 30 delegates - 16
menbers and 14 alternates - representing each comunity al ong
the Yukon River, and neets annually to discuss fishing issues
She said clearly the rapidly declining salnon runs are the issue
of utnost inportance on the Yukon River.

M5. KLEIN said Chinook salnmon are a critical source of food, and
the subsistence fisheries and the salnon are a key conponent to
t he indigenous cultures of the region. She stated that recent
reductions in subsistence Chinook salnmon fishing tinmes and
changes to gillnet fishing gear have greatly inpacted the Yukon
Ri ver conmuniti es. Furthernmore, the lack of conmmercial Chinook
salmon fisheries necessitated by the Chinook salnon shortages
has also had a dramatic effect on incone on the small rural
communities where comercial salnon fisheries are one of the
only sources of incone.

4:28:12 PM

M5. KLEIN said research into the causes of the declines and
i nproved managenent tools are critical to the issue. She stated
that YRDFA fully supports the upcomng testinony of the Bering
Sea Fishernmen's Association (BSFA), as well as the testinony
made on behalf of Kawerak. She enphasized that support for
addr essi ng econom c devel opnent, I ncl udi ng alternative
commercial fisheries, sustaining rural conmunities, and reducing
other sources of nortality is inportant. The association has
worked for years to reduce salnon bycatch in the pollock
fishery, and while nunbers have been low in recent years, the
YRDFA is continually monitoring the trends. She said YRDFA is
al so working through the council process to ensure managenent
nmeasures are in place to reduce chum bycatch, as well.

M5. KLEIN said YRDFA's niche is community involvenment in
fisheries nonitoring and decision-making, which is critical for
the follow ng reasons: nmanagers gain insight and know edge from
those "on the ground® who have |ong-term knowl edge about their
particular areas; hiring locals builds the capacity of those
people and nakes it possible for them to be involved in
managenent . | ncorporating traditional ecological know edge into

HOUSE FSH COW TTEE -21- Cct ober 19, 2011



managenment decisions is also critical, and has been a Kkey
conponent of YRDFA' s prograns for nore than 10 years.

M5. KEIN stated that in the past, YRDFA received funding through
direct appropriations via the PSCRF to conduct some of its
monitoring work. Projects fromthe past included: hiring |oca
people to work on ADF&G and U.S. Fish and WIldlife Services
(USFW5) fisheries nonitoring projects; working with ADF&G and

USFW5 to develop an in-season harvest survey  program
docunenting traditional ecol ogi cal knowl edge about natural
indicators of salnon abundance and arrival; partnering wth

ADF&G and USFWS to contribute funds, resources, and capacity for
runni ng successful projects in the Yukon R ver watershed.
Feder al appropriations helped YRDFA to ensure there were
projects on the Yukon River directly ainmed at engaging | ocal
people and fisheries nmonitoring. M. Kl ein said while there are
projects with those ains, they are largely funded through
conpetitive processes, and there is no assurance that the
projects will continue. She opined that engaging |ocal people
in nmonitoring should be a priority for the state and one that is
consi stently funded.

4:31:54 PM

M5. KLEIN stated that engaging |ocal people and tribes directly
in the decision-making of fisheries is also critical.
Communities are directly affected by fisheries nanagenent
decisions, and - nore so in the AYK Region than anywhere else in
the state - those decisions can have a deep and profound inpact
on people's lives and livelihoods. Locals can help craft
decisions wth the |east negative inpact on the resource and
community, while also making the jobs of the state and federal
entities easier. Ms. Klein said YRDFA's board structure is
designed to facilitate input from |ocal people. She offered
further details.

M5. KLEIN continued to explain that this year - wth funding
from the legislature - YRDFA is undertaking a process
specifically ainmed at Chinook salnon nanagenent to develop a
| arger-picture plan for nmanaging Chinook salnon under their
current states of abundance. This process will involve a group
of stakehol ders, agencies, and technical experts. A proposa
can be submitted April 2012, with a plan submtted to the BOF at
its January 2013 neeting. She thanked the state for funding
this work, and urged support for additional funding for the
travel and staff tinme that is critical to maintain comunity
i nvol venent in fisheries nonitoring and deci si on- maki ng.

HOUSE FSH COW TTEE -22- Cct ober 19, 2011



CHAI R THOWSON announced that the committee would next hear from
t he executive di rector of t he Beri ng Sea Fi shernen' s
Associ ati on.

4:35:12 PM

KAREN G LLIS, Executive Director, Bering Sea Fishernen's
Association (BSFA), relayed that in 1979, 150 fishernen from
over 30 conmunities wunited to build BSFA, an organization
concerned with hel ping fishermen gain full economc benefit from
| ocal conmercial fisheries. Currently, she said, BSFA is
governed by a 13-nenber board conprised of |ocal fishernen from
Bristol Bay, Kotzebue, Kuskokwim Norton Sound, the Yukon
[River], and St. Paul. She listed acconplishments of BSFA:
participating in developing a high seas driftnet ban through the
United Nations (UN); playing a leading role in creating the
Communi ty Devel opnment Quota (CDQ program hel ping Yukon River
residents organi ze the  Yukon Ri ver Dr ai nage Fi sheries
Association; creating and inplenenting the Bristol Bay Buyback
Coalition; facilitating and assisting in negotiations for the
U S.-Canada Yukon River salnon agreenent; conducting niche
marketing in Western Al aska salnon; initiating resource surveys
and fisheries feasibility studies in the Chukchi Sea; working
closely with regional Native associations to construct the AYK
SSI . Ms. Gllis said BSFA also administers and directs sal non
nmonitoring and scientific research.

M5. QdLLIS stated that BSFA's concern is the health and
condition of marine and freshwater ecosystens and the resources
they support, which nust survive the influence of human
activities, climate variations, and interactions between
speci es. She said what once |ooked like short-term decline in
t he popul ations of salnon is now |looking like it mght be |ong-
term More alarmng is the realization that there are nassive
knowl edge gaps, and she advised it wll take tinme to find
answers to explain the declines, to work on strategies to
prevent them in the future, and to create tools to nanage them

in the interim Ms. GIllis enphasized that those managing
fisheries nmust inprove their interaction wth rural Native
residents and comunities. She talked about the difficult

deci sions nmade by nmanagers, and residents' response to those
deci sions, which include adopting confrontational postures,
practicing civil disobedience, and engaging in outright sabotage
- all forms of communication devel oped after nore constructive
attenpts of conmunication have fail ed. These abrasive fornms of
conmuni cation are nore costly than bringing people together into

HOUSE FSH COW TTEE - 23- Cct ober 19, 2011



data gathering, analysis, and the decision-naking process. She
pointed out that BSFA wants to see effort on the part of the
| egislature to ensure the long-term viability of prograns such
as the foll ow ng.

4:39:12 PM

M5. G LLIS stated that in the summer of 1993, many chum sal non
runs in Western Alaska wunpredictably failed to return in
expected nunbers. The U. S. Departnent of Interior provided
funds to nonitor the runs, with the stipulation that conmunities
and residents be full partners. She said BSFA managed the funds
bet ween 1994 and 2006; however, since that tine the program has
gone unfunded at the federal |evel. She explained that the
greatest benefit of the program was that projects inplenented
with the funds were coordinated with ADF&G or USFWS. She said
BSFA encouraged conmunity-based organizations, regional Native
organi zations, and individual fishermen to partake in all
projects in order to increase participation and engagenent
bet ween regional residents, organizations, and federal entities.
She said it was the first AYK Region-wide effort to involve
rural communities and individuals in salnon nonitoring projects.
The funding provided up to 175 seasonal jobs, including training
and nentoring prograns providing opportunities for youth to
engage in scientific research in their own comunities. MVs.
Gllis said the nodel for this programrenains in place, and it
was an investnent in constituents that built credibility and
trust.

4:41:10 PM

M5. GQLLIS said since 1997, the unexpected decline in AYK sal non
runs warranted 16 disaster declarations in different watersheds,
resulting in harvest restrictions which have created trenendous
hardshi ps for the conmunities in a region with both the highest
subsi stence dependence on salnon and the |owest incones in the
state. In response to these declines, BSFA and regional Native
organi zations invited state and federal agencies to create the
AYK SSI - a proactive science-based program to identify and
address critical salnmon research needs facing the region. She
said the AYK SSI includes: the Association of Village Council
Presidents, Tanana Chiefs Conference, Kawerak, Inc., Bering Sea
Fi shermen's Associ ation, ADF&S NOAA Fisheries, and the USFWs.
The AYK SSI is governed by an eight-nenber steering commttee
and advised by a six-nenber technical committee. The U. S
Congress and the State of Al aska have appropriated $21.7 mllion
to support the AYK SSI, which she described as a unique research

HOUSE FSH COW TTEE - 24- Cct ober 19, 2011



program dedi cated to understanding the declines of sal non across
both the freshwater and marine ecosystens of the region,
advancing research across the entire lifecycle of salnon, and as
one of the largest collaborative efforts of its kind on the
North Pacific Coast.

4:43: 09 PM

M5. GLLIS listed the followng AYK SSI acconplishnments:
devel opnment of the AYK SSI Research and Restoration plan - a
strategic salnmon science plan providing a roadmap to guide
requests for proposals; a partnership with the North Pacific
Research Board and the Exxon Valdez Ol Spill Trustee Council to
establish a rigorous, external peer review process overseen by a
scientific technical commttee; devel opnment and application of a
regional capacity-building program creating a new nodel by
whi ch rural conmmunities and organi zations can directly engage in
fisheries research activities; organization of a sal non research
synposium w th the subsequent publication of a book, entitled,
"Pacific Salnon Ecology and WMnagenent of Western Alaska's

Popul ations. " Ms. Gllis said the AYK SSI remains focused on
harnessing research to understand declines and support
sust ai nabl e nanagenent of these stocks. The research plan's

core focus is on the devel opnent of new fisheries managenent
tools and the synthesis of information for inproved forecasting.

4:44:23 PM

M5. A LLIS highlighted three projects currently underway. The
first project is escapenent goal-setting to ensure sustainable
fisheries. She said escapenent goals and managenent strategies
for salnon stocks throughout Alaska have been the subject of

controversy. Traditional nmethods are hanpered by Ilimted
i nformati on. She told of new initiatives and an expert panel
that offers advice to the state toward "the nost appropriate
research approaches.™ Ms. Gllis said the second project

addresses human systens and sustai nabl e sal non. Anot her expert
panel was created to design a nodel using quantitative data and
assunpti ons to predict sal non har vest for subsi st ence,
comercial, and sport uses. The nodel predicts harvest by use
categories at the levels of drainage, najor area, and stock, and
al so predicts future harvest under various scenarios, including
human popul ations, sal non abundance, nunbers of dog teans, and

nonetary i ncone. Ms. Gllis said the third project addresses
research priorities for AYK Chinook salnon, and it identifies
priorities for future research. She said BSFA is working to

determne the variables that account for long-term declines -

HOUSE FSH COW TTEE - 25- Cct ober 19, 2011



and shorter episodic declines - and to figure out whether the
declines are occurring primarily in the freshwater phase or the
marine portion of the Chinook salnmon |ifecycle. The project
will describe a research pathway through a series of projects to
answer these questions.

M5. GQLLIS said the AYK SSI Chinook salnobn subconmttee
requested a conpilation of evidence for long-term declines and
periodic low returns of AYK Regi on Chi nook popul ations. For the
Yukon River, the analysis indicated that the nobst recent period
of | ow abundance, which began in 2007, resulted from the | ow
productivity of the 2002-2004 brood years, which was one return
per spawner. This nmeant that in the absence of any fishing, the
popul ation is barely able to replenish itself. She related that
for the Kuskokwim River, with the exception of the unusually
strong "recruit:responder” ratio from the 2000 brood year," the
anal ysis shows a period of |ow productivity over the past 15
years. She said that between 1994 and 2006, only two brood
years had productivity levels greater than 2:1, and seven years
during that period, productivity fell below one recruit per
spawner . She said productivity from the 2004-2006 brood years
was below the mninmum replacenent |evel of one recruit per
spawner, producing the | owest trending run abundance in the past
four years.

M5. GLLIS said it is possible to safeguard Al aska's treasured
sal non runs and the thousands of people whose |ivelihoods depend
on them She expressed certainty that everyone wants the sane
thing: resources that are healthy and abundant in nunbers. She
said it is exciting to be part of the state's progress toward
getting stakeholders involved in the nmanagenment process. She
said the decisions nade have consequences and risks associated
with them Ms. Gllis said the ultinmate goal is to understand
and rebuild sal non stocks. She reiterated the effects that |ow
sal ron runs have. She nanmed those concerned and the entities
i nvol ved, including the |legislature. She concluded as foll ows:

Many current fishery problens are the l|egacy of a
m spl aced belief in the resiliency or inexhaustibility

of our resources. Qur task and yours requires the
i nvol venent of every person, from doctors of science
to subsistence users, to commt thenmselves to

i npl enentation of the idea of healthy and abundant
sal non stocks for generations to cone. This can only
be achi eved by wor ki ng together.

4:51:12 PM

HOUSE FSH COW TTEE - 26- Cct ober 19, 2011



M5. G LLIS, in response to Representative Austerman, said the
aforementioned $21.7 mllion was given by US. Congress in
federal FY 02, and the first projects were in the water in 2003.
She confirned that the funding | asted 10 years.

4:52:18 PM
CHAI R THOMPSON opened public testinony.
4:52:42 PM

ORVI LLE HUNTINGTON, Director, WIdlife Parks, Tanana Chiefs
Conference, said his concerns are the sane as those of Tim and
Ms. Fosdick, which are related to the difficulty experienced by
subsi stence fishermen. He said his experience has shown that it
is necessary to work with "fish and gane."” He encouraged the
| egislature to continue its support of good organizations, such
as the Bering Sea Fishernen's Association and the Yukon River
Drai nage Fi sheries Association. He said his organization works
closely with them He observed that sone representatives had
left the nmeeting, and he said he is sorry that happened, because
"it's not easy living out there." He related that he is one of
the few comercial fishermen in the area who has let his
commercial fishing license sunset, because he "didn't see the
sense in it anynore." He said this summer was the first that he
only fished one day as a subsistence fishermn. He said he
knows he has done his part, and said conplaining will not get to
the root of the problem He said he thinks that "you guys" are
the ones that can do the nobst good at this point. He rel ayed
that he has nmet with representatives in the federal governnent
and has been told to do the best he can "within the system -
wi t hout noney,"” and he said those are difficult words to accept.
M. Huntington expressed his wllingness to work wth the
| egislature on this issue, and he thanked ADF&G for its efforts.

4:56: 23 PM

LOUS GREEN said he <cones from a sub-district that has
experienced a decline in salnon runs for 30 years. He said
there is a lot of enphasis on the AYK Region and he thinks the
testinmony he has heard has covered nuch of the problem He
related that he has been both a subsistence and conmmerci al
fi sher man. The declines in the None sub-district started way
ahead of that of other areas, but the efforts he and others nmade
to bring this to light seenmed to fall on deaf ears. Now, he

said, it seens that nany people are using "our" problenms to

HOUSE FSH COW TTEE -27- Cct ober 19, 2011



bring theirs forward. He said None's long history of declining
salnon runs is not just an economc issue, but also a cultural
i ssue. He said he is shareholder of Sitnasuak Village Native
Corporation, which owns all the Iland around ADF&G Speci al
Managenment Area Unit 22C, and many of the rivers in that area
are rivers of concern. M. Geen said he also served as chair
of the Tier Il salnon work group, in 1998 and 1999, and that
system "didn't do anything." He offered his understanding that
the escapenent goals were dropped, and when he asked the past
AYK director why, he was essentially told not to conplain
because he "got the fish." M. Geen said he has a problemwth
| oneri ng escapenent goals to get fish, because it neans killing
off the runs faster.

MR. GREEN said he heard soneone say the Nonme sub-district has
escaped Tier Il managenent for a while. He questioned | ocal
managenent all ow ng subsi stence fishing before any of the sal non
get up to the counting weir, and then shutting down the
subsi stence fishing when nanagenent decides it's not getting
enough. He said that is backwards nanagenent, because the fish
should get up to the weir to ensure they get to spawni ng grounds
before anyone is allowed to catch them He said he has a
difficult tinme understanding where the problemlies, and said he
thinks "there's a lot of political stuff going on here."

MR. GREEN said his CDQ group is allowed to work on enhancenent

and rehabilitation of salnon runs. He said he |ooked at the
annual report, and saw that $22 mllion has been spent through
2011. He said he doesn't know how nuch of that goes to

enhancenment, but knows that a lot of it goes to ADF&G for
counting tower projects. He said that noney from the CDQ group
is supposed to take care of econom c devel opnment for "us." He
said ADF&G has an oil field "up there" to take care of its
budget; therefore, he does not understand why they need "our"
noney.

MR. GREEN said at one point in time there was |owtechnical
hat chery running on the Nonme R ver - through a cooperative
agreenent with ADF&G the None Fishernen's Association, and the
regi onal aquaculture association for Norton Sound and Bering
Straits - that was doing a small enhancenent project that seened
to be working, but "now that's over wth." He questioned why
the people of Nonme cannot have this hatchery project in
operation for their economc and scientific benefit.

5:02: 21 PM

HOUSE FSH COW TTEE - 28- Cct ober 19, 2011



VERNER WLSON stated that he is a commercial, sport, and
subsi stence fisherman. He said he also works for the World
Wldlife Fund (WWF), which tackles projects involving fishing
of f of Russia, pollock and salnon fisheries, Bristol Bay, and to
increase the price, value, and quality of Bering Sea fish. He

described a WA project. He said one goal toward protecting
Bristol Bay salnon, including fisheries throughout the Bering
Sea and AYK Region, is to protect marine habitat. He referred

to a NOAA fisheries review conmpleted in April 2011, by the
Bureau of Ocean Energy Managenent, Regul ation, and Enforcenent,
titled, "The Review of Salnonid Use of North Aleutian Basin
Lease Area and Surrounding Habitats," which states that when

salnon mgrate out of freshwater, including the Kuskokw m
wat er sheds, sone head directly to the North Ccean Basin area,
where the federal governnment may allow offshore drilling after
2017. Wen those salnon return to spawn, offshore drilling can
risk the integrity of the fisheries because of drilling
contam nants, seismc surveys or infrastructure that can Kkill
juvenile fish and eggs, and oil spills that can harm fish

popul ations and taint Al aska's clean fisheries' inmage. He said
the AYK Region benefits from the CDQ program simlarly to
Bristol Bay, and warned that if offshore drilling is allowed in
the North Aleutian Basin, fishing operations, from crab to
pol | ock, could be affected.

5:04:51 PM

STAN ZURAY rel ayed that he has been a subsistence and commerci al
fisherman in the Tanana area for about 40 years. He said he
presently runs a nunber of fisheries data collection projects

sone of which are directly related to the decline of Chinook

sal non run nunbers, quality, and size of fish. He said during
the years of the decline of Yukon Chinook salnon in average size
and overall nunbers, proper escapenent was determned by
managenent only by using the nunber of fish. Data coll ections

and anecdotal information show that a |arge nunber of smaller,
mal e Chinook presently are being used towards this escapenent
nunber, and he said, "This needs to be changed as it nakes
managi ng for proper returns inpossible.”

MR. ZURAY stated that the quality of escapenent has clearly been
nore positive in 2009 and 2011, the two years in which there

were "Chinook pulse closures.” He opined that this needs to be
instituted and continued for all pulses each year, until a trend
of healthy Chinook years is shown. Regardi ng customary trade,

he said he would like to clarify that it is not the redirection
of comrercial fish harvest, as it predates the Al aska Commerci a

HOUSE FSH COW TTEE - 29- Cct ober 19, 2011



Fisheries Entry Conm ssion program by nany years. Conmerci al
fishing, nore accurately, is the redirection of customary trade,
with 90 percent of that allowable Chinook quota having been
allocated to the lower of the districts. He added, "That would
be an upper river perspective."

5:07:47 PM

FRED W ALEXIE SR stated that ADF&G does not nonitor fish in
the Yukon River by Kaltag; the nonitoring is done based on
whatever is caught downriver or whatever passes the sonar
station. He questioned how ADF&G knows where the fish that pass
the sonar are going when the distance between the sonar and
Kaltag is so great. He recommended another sonar station at
Bi shop Mountain, because it would elimnate the "guesswork." He
said the other sonar is in Eagle, which is too far from Pil ot
Station. He expressed his disappointnent that the weir station
program that taught children how to manage fish was ended. He
said he does not see ADF&G people near his hone to nonitor the
fish. He pointed out there were two closures |ast sunmer during
the peak of the Chinook run, and that in all his years of
fishing on the Yukon he has never seen it that bad. He asked

"How di d [ ADF&G know?"

5:10: 57 PM

TIM SM TH, President, Nome Fishermen's Association, relayed that
he also serves on the Federal Regional Subsistence Advisory
Counci | . He said as a pilot he has flown salnon surveys for
thirty years over the rivers on the Seward Peninsul a. He said
the departnent's presentation nade the situation sound like it
is getting better, but he does not agree. He said commerci al
fishing in the None area has been closed since 1989, and it has
been closed in the Port C arence district since 2006. He said
this year only forty-six king salnmon were caught in the weir on
the Pilgrim R ver, and returns have been approximately in that

range for the |ast seven years. He opined that run - by any
reasonabl e standard - is extinct. He said subsistence fishing
for red salmon was closed for nost of the season and the harvest
was insignificant. In addition, subsistence fishing for silver

salmon in the Nome sub-district was closed for nbst of the run
and the harvest was insignificant. He said [None's] chum sal non

returns were |low, and so was the harvest. M. Smth said there
is no wuseful information regarding what s causing these
short ages.

HOUSE FSH COW TTEE - 30- Cct ober 19, 2011



MR SMTH said he is the nmanager of the Hobson Creek Fish
Hat chery in the Nome River, which is a proven hatchery that has
been working on salnmon enhancenent projects since 1991,
produci ng healthy fry and getting marked adult returns back. He
said this year there is water running through the hatchery, but
no eggs, because the hatchery cannot get permts from ADF&G  He
said hatchery production is necessary to have a harvest, and he
does not understand why the departnent is blocking this effort.

5:13:42 PM

MR SMTH, regarding previous testinmony from the departnent,

said he has been a nenber of the regional salnon planning team
since 1997; however, that entity has not net since 2006 and has
no plans to neet in the future. He stated that there are no
meani ngf ul sal non enhancenent projects going on right now on the
Seward Peninsula, while in the rest of the state salnon
hat cheries produce lots of salmon for both comercial and
subsi stence fishernen. He said there are no hatcheries on the
Bering Sea, and he said "we" don't see how [None] could be the
only place in the state that does not need hatchery production

Furt hernore, ADF&G has not been forthright on its position of
opposition to hatchery production in areas that have been
heavi |l y i npact ed.

5:14:22 PM

BRYAN  MARACLE, Director, Nat ur al Resour ces, Counci | of
At habascan Tri bal Governnents, stated that the Yukon Flats saw
the | argest nunber of closures for all the Yukon fisheries. He
said the council remains concerned about "how the managenent is
dealing with the |arge scope of our district.” M. Miracle said
based on the managenent criteria of escapenent of fish crossing
the border, the council wurges the consideration of opening up
tributaries during fisheries closures. Certain tributaries, he
expl ained, do not see Canadian-bound stocks. Further, M.
Maracle said the council would like to participate in a better
collection of salnobn use surveys, and participate in a greater
way W th subsistence harvest surveys that are conducted by
ADF&G. He said there is a lack of trust between "people on the

ground" and ADF&G personnel, and the council firmy believes
t hat good managenent needs good data. He said the council would
like to facilitate that. In response to Representative

Austerman, he nanmed sone of the tributaries to which he had
previously referred.

5:18:50 PM

HOUSE FSH COW TTEE - 31- Cct ober 19, 2011



ROY ASHENFELTER, chair of the Norton Sound Advisory Conmittee,

offered a history of chum salnmon in the region. He said in
early 2000 there was an escapenment goal - a chum cap - of
375, 000. He said the cap was there for a nunber of years in a
r Ow. However, after a change of governor, BOF nenbers, and
conmmi ssioner, that was elimnated. He said the nessage heard
was, "W know when to stop fishing." He said, "The carte
bl anche information and strategy in opening the fishery was |eft
to the commercial fishermen - not to the departnent.” He

indicated that the result was that "they cut 1.2 mllion chum"”
He referred to data on the Nome sub-district, and he said for
years there was a gradual incline of chum sal non escapenent.

Most of the rivers had a reduced chum run. He stated that in
2010 and 2011, the area fishernen decided to take control and
not open their fishery until late June. He said, "It is really

scary that when you have all kinds of neasures being addressed
to the users, subsistence fishernen in Norton Sound, and Yukon,
and Kuskokwim and in the other area where they're catching the

fish there's no control at all." He questioned "How do we nake
sonme changes?” He asked [the conmittee] when and how it would
ask the departnment to do its job. He said there is sonething

wong with the system and he relayed that, by volune, |ess than
2 percent of the fish caught are caught by subsistence
fi shernen. M. Ashenfelter observed that the research in his
area is being done by the local CDQ not the departnment. He
then expressed his hope that there would be neani ngful dial ogue
and shared responsibility regarding the responsible nmanagenent
of chum sal non.

5:24: 00 PM

CHAIR THOWPSON noted that Charles Swanton, Director of the
Division of Sport Fish, ADF&G and Mke Smth from the BOF were
avai |l abl e for questions.

REPRESENTATI VE SEATON stated he had requested an analysis of a
chart that had been given to the commttee regardi ng escapenent
goals, so that there is a way to nonitor |arge streans.

5:24:46 PM

REPRESENTATI VE AUSTERMAN commented to the departnent that this
hearing has highlighted many issues that have gone unanswered

for years. He said he would |ike another hearing with the
departnment at the start of the new session regarding the
information that was presented today - particularly regarding

HOUSE FSH COW TTEE - 32- Cct ober 19, 2011



t he anount of noney that is being spent on research. He said he
was pleased to discover that the governor and perhaps the
commi ssioner are taking a stronger interest in putting nore
nmoney into the AYK Region to find out what is going on; however,
he remarked that there is only so long research can continue
before it may be necessary to question the research. He said he
wants stronger answers from the departnent to explain what's

going on in the marine environment. Representative Austerman
said he would also like to consider what is happening in the
Asian market, as well, because "at sonme point in time there's

going to be an 'abundance [imt' of what the ocean system can
t ake. "

5:28: 54 PM

CHAI R THOMPSON said he is certain the departnment has taken note
of the concerns expressed during testinony, and he said foll ow
up discussions will occur, beginning in January.

5:29:29 PM

ADJ QURNVENT

There being no further business before the commttee, the House

Special Conmttee on Fisheries neeting was adjourned at 5:29
p. m

HOUSE FSH COW TTEE - 33- Cct ober 19, 2011



